IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
Supreme Court No. DA 21-0426

FLYING T RANCH, LLC, a Montana limited liability company,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CATLIN RANCH, LP, a Montana limited partnership,

Defendant and Appellant,

MEAGHER COUNTY BY & THROUGH ITS COMMISSION,
SCOTT JACKSON, LYNN JACKSON, DEBRA WILLIAMS,
LISA ANDERSON, BERT WILLIAMS & CONNIE HIX,

Defendants.

CATLIN RANCH, LP, a Montana limited partnership,

Cross-Claimant and Appellant,

v.

DEBRA WILLIAMS, LISA ANDERSON,
BERT WILLIAMS & CONNIE HIX,

Cross-claim Defendants and Appellees.

APPELLANT, CATLIN RANCH, LP'S, OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Fourteenth Judicial District Court, Meagher County

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the district court err in granting a preliminary injunction?
2. Did the district court err when it included parties in the preliminary injunctive relief who had neither moved for, nor been joined in, such relief?
3. Did the district court err in broadly ruling on the merits of the case rather than restricting its Findings and Conclusions to those necessary to determine whether a preliminary injunction should, or should not, be granted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order* entered by the district court on August 2, 2021, which granted Appellee/Plaintiff's preliminary injunction motion.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The case before the district court surrounds questions of whether an approximately 1.1 mile stretch of road, referred to as the Moss Agate Road or the Moss Agate Spur ("MAR"), is a valid county road, whether the same has been abandoned, and whether Plaintiff/Appellee, Flying T Ranch ("FT") has a legal access right to utilize the same. *Complaint*, 5/31/19, CR1; *Answer*, 8/16/19, CR24; *Amended Complaint*, 8/13/20, CR55. The stretch of road in question is a portion which branches off Highway 89, in Township 7 North, Range 7 East, Meagher County, at Section 15, and runs through Sections 14 and 11, on and across

Defendant/Appellant, Catlin Ranch LP's ("Catlin") property. *Def.'s Answer to Pl.'s Mot.*, 2, 7/17/19, CR7. MAR ultimately intersects with the old White Sulphur Springs ("WWS") to Livingston Road No. 19 ("County Road No. 19"). *Id.* MAR runs through an area containing corrals, fences and holding areas for Catlin's extensive cattle operation. *TRO Answer*, 12, 13, CR7. Catlin keeps a gate across MAR, in Section 15, which limits/prevents access across Catlin ground. *Id.* Catlin has kept the gate locked and unlocked, at times, since 2003, when Louise Rankin Galt transferred title to Catlin. B. Galt, Tr. 188:20-189:25, 4/30/21.

FT purchased Section 25 of Township 8 North, Range 7 East, Meagher County, Montana, in April 2014 ("Property"). *Complaint*, ¶7, CR1. FT obtained title insurance at the time of purchase, which did not insure a specific access route. *Stay Mot.*, 4, 7/17/19, CR8; *Stay Reply Br.*, 6, 8/19/19, CR21. Section 25 shares borders with the State of Montana, USDA Forest Service, CJS Ranch, LLC, and a corner with Section 35, owned by Scott and Lynn Jackson (two of the other named defendants, "Jacksons"). FT purchased Section 25 from Bert and Debra Williams, Connie Hix, and Lisa Anderson (joint owners of nearby property, collectively "Williams") for the purpose of having a vacation spot where FT members and family could also hunt. Timbrook, Tr. 251:4-24, 1/14/21. An area map (formulated by Catlin's expert, surveyor Barney Hallin), showing the sections, respective

ownership, easements of record, and roads is part of the record as hearing Exhibit C96.

In 2013, Jacksons granted an easement to Williams, providing Williams a non-exclusive, perpetual easement starting in Williams' Section 5 and extending over and across Jacksons' property in the northern half of Section 2 and into Section 35, to provide access to Section 25, the land now owned by FT. ("Williams-Jackson Easement"). Hr. Ex. C19. Williams also applied for, and were granted, from the State of Montana, authorization to expand the scope of their existing easement with the State, in Section 36, to allow for one residence. *Id.* The Williams-Jackson Easement was the access route to Section 25, as advertised by Williams in their sales brochure for that parcel, and does not cross Catlin property or use MAR route. Hr. Ex. C19, C81.

In April 2014, when FT purchased the Property, no residence existed thereon. Williams, Tr. 101:17-23, 4/29/21. The Property is not FT's primary residence, but a recreational holding for its out-of-state members. *TRO Answer*, CR7. Starting in summer 2014, FT constructed a cabin on the Property, which was usable in that year. P. Maurer, Tr. 130:19-23, 1/13/21; Timbrook, Tr. 261:4-14, 1/14/21. In June 2014, FT and Catlin had their first confrontation involving MAR use. *Aff. Timbrook*, 6:22, 7/1/19. Ultimately, a Meagher County under-sheriff became involved and rendered an opinion that Catlin needed to allow FT access. *Id.*, 7:26. Based on the under-

sheriff's instruction, MAR gate remained unlocked, and FT utilized it to complete cabin construction in 2015. P. Maurer, Tr. 130:19-23, 1/13/21. During his testimony, the under-sheriff (Nicolaus Rouser) denied having a clear recollection of this incident, or what he discussed with title examiner, Angie Evans. N. Rouser, Tr. 137:7-13, 138:1-7, 141:5-11, 146:8-11, 147:15-21, 1/13/21.

FT used MAR for seasonal access to its recreational Property until fall 2017, when Catlin locked a gate across MAR preventing further use by FT. Timbrook, Tr. 271:21-24, 284:21-23. FT cut Catlin's lock in September 2017, but it was reinstalled as of October 2017, by Catlin. Timbrook, Tr. 309:20-310:4, 311:12-21. During this time, Catlin sought the advice of the then Meagher County Attorney who represented MAR was not a county road. *TRO Answer*, 4, CR7; Aff. Timbrook, ¶37, CR4. Williams presented this issue to, and sought the assistance of, the Meagher County Commissioners, on December 5, 2017, but the Commissioners have thus far done nothing. *Protective Order Answer*, 12-13, 4/13/21, CR119. FT was precluded from using MAR for recreational access from later 2017 until August 2, 2021 when the district court granted FT's motion for a preliminary injunction pending trial. *Order*, 9, 8/2/21, CR163.

From fall 2017, until August 2, 2021, FT accessed the Property not via MAR, but through alternative routes. Aff. Timbrook, ¶¶37, 39; Timbrook, Tr. 277:15-16, 286:11-16. In this regard, FT member Todd Timbrook, testified FT has two, 4-wheel

drive pickups that FT has used to get to the Property using the Williams-Jackson Easement route. Timbrook, Tr. 311:12-312:25, 330:20-25. Timbrook further acknowledged bringing a “crawler” to the Property via the Williams-Jackson route. *Id.*, Tr. 311:12-15, 19-21. Concern was expressed about being able to take a trailer over this route, but Williams testified such concern could be remedied with some work. Williams, Tr. 100:5-12, 4/29/21.

Approximately two years after being locked out, on May 20, 2019, FT filed suit against First American Title Insurance Company of Montana (“Title Company”) alleging the Title Company refused to uphold promises to pay for all road improvements and construction on the “North Route”, at an estimated cost of \$350,000. *Stay Mot.*, 3, CR8; *Opposition to Stay Mot.*, 12, 7/26/19, CR11. The North Route is not the road at issue in this appeal. Therein, FT further requested monetary damages (including punitive) against the Title Company on a policy valued at \$900,000. *Stay Mot.*, 3, CR8. The Title Company case is still being litigated by FT.

On May 31, 2019, FT filed suit against Catlin. *Complaint*, CR1. Over a month later, on July 3, 2019, FT moved for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction seeking an order prohibiting Catlin from interfering with FT’s use of MAR, and arguing the same was necessary to preserve the status quo and to minimize harm. *TRO Mot.*, 20, 7/3/19, CR4. FT’s motion does not name Jacksons

as opposing parties or request that interim injunctive relief be awarded against them. *Id.* The motion further does not request relief be granted in favor of Jacksons, Williams, or Meagher County (namely, the public). *Id.* FT's motion was not amended to add parties or requested relief, and none of the other named defendants joined in FT's motion or submitted their own motion seeking such relief.

Catlin objected to FT's motion and moved the district court to stay the proceedings pending the outcome of the Title Company case. *TRO Answer*, CR7; *Stay Mot.*, 3, CR8. Catlin argued that access and damages were all being litigated in the Title Company case, where damages are more appropriately addressed with the entity which has policy limits (\$900,000) for a claim. *Stay Reply Br.*, 8, 8/9/19, CR21. In seeking the stay, Catlin also indicated it did not object to the lower court granting interim access over MAR for propane delivery to the Property. *TRO Answer*, 5, CR7. The Title Company contends it negotiated and was willing to pay for easements over Moss Agate and County Road No. 19 on the North Route, but FT ultimately rejected these solutions. *Stay Reply Br.*, 6, CR21. The Title Company also claims it investigated access in the area and determined FT already had access rights over the old county road to the South and North, but not on MAR. *Id.*, 6-7.

FT objected and claimed its two lawsuits were sufficiently different as to warrant the instant case to not be stayed. *Stay Opposition Br.*, CR11. The district court, however, granted the stay, reasoning the case would only delay relief for FT,

not eliminate it, and that it could not “envision a fair” and “equitable trial going forward” until the Title Company case was concluded. *Stay Order*, 8, 8/30/19, CR25. The court also ordered that propane could be delivered via MAR in the interim, as arranged through respective legal counsel. *Id.*, 9. FT appealed and this Court reversed the stay, holding it was error for the district court to not first hold a hearing on FT’s preliminary injunction motion. *Appeal Ntc.*, 9/3/19, CR26; *Supreme Court Order*, CR39, 40.

The hearing on FT’s preliminary injunction started on January 13, 2021 but was stopped early on January 14, 2021 because of a COVID-19 exposure. *Court Minutes*, 1/14/21, CR87. The hearing resumed on April 29, 2021 and April 30, 2021. *Order*, 2, 8/2/21, CR163. The district court issued its order granting FT’s preliminary injunction motion on August 2, 2021. *Order*, III, CR163, attached hereto as Appellant’s Exhibit 1. The Order enjoins Catlin and Jacksons from interfering with FT’s use of MAR, and orders access over MAR to not only FT, but also Williams and Jacksons. *Id.* The Order further determines that MAR is a county road which has not been abandoned. *Id.*, ¶¶32-41, D-K, M-N, P-U, V-LL, MM, NN.

Nowhere in the district court record does FT assert it has been completely unable to access its Property since October 2017. FT concedes it has been precluded from using MAR since late 2017, and admits to having at least one other access route. *Aff. Timbrook*, ¶¶37, 39; *Timbrook*, Tr. 277:15-16, 286:11-16.

Catlin files this appeal asserting the district court's findings were clearly erroneous and its Order should be overturned as a manifest abuse of discretion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court has broad discretion to grant a preliminary injunction. However, the lower court abused this discretion when it granted FT's motion, because FT failed to meet its evidentiary burden. The lower court further erred when it incorrectly determined the status quo period, and made sweeping determinations, and ultimate conclusions, on the underlying merits and issues of the case. Instead, the district court should have narrowed its Findings and Conclusions to only those necessary to grant, or deny, a preliminary injunction.

In this regard, while the district court must provide sufficient findings and conclusions to support its order, those determinations must be tailored and specifically limited to the issue before the court; namely, the temporary use of MAR. The district court is not authorized, and it is a manifest abuse of discretion, for it to issue a preliminary injunction order which includes dispositive determinations as to the underlying issues. *Porter v. K & S P'ship* (1981), 192 Mont. 175, 183, 627 P.2d 836, 840.

The district court order, in this case, far exceeded the findings and conclusions needed to support granting a preliminary injunction. The district court ironically states its duty is to "determine whether a sufficient case has been made to warrant

the preservation of the property or rights in status quo until trial, without expressing a final opinion as to such rights”, but then goes on to express final opinions on dispositive issues. *Order*, ¶¶32-41, D-K, M-N, P-U, V-LL, MM, 8/2/21, CR163. In contravention of legal precedence, the lower court expressly adjudicated and found that MAR is a county road, which was not abandoned. *Id.*, ¶¶U, NN. The district court also erroneously determined that FT has a true and active right to access the road. *Id.*, ¶NN. The court then further exceeded its discretion by granting not just FT full access on MAR, but also access to other parties who neither moved for, nor been joined as parties, for such relief. *Id.*, III.

In this regard, the issue before the district court was interim/temporary use of MAR by FT, based on FT’s motion for a preliminary injunction. The only party in that motion requesting relief was FT. No other parties joined in that motion or filed their own motion seeking the same or similar relief. The lower court abused its discretion, and deprived Catlin of notice, and therefore due process, when it granted temporary use of MAR to not just FT, but also other named defendants to this action; specifically, Williams and Jacksons. *Order*, III. Additionally, by erroneously declaring MAR to be a valid unabandoned county road, the district court in essence also granted unrestricted access to the public. *Id.*, ¶¶U, NN.

The district court erred and abused its discretion by issuing the preliminary injunction in contravention of existing applicable statutes and case law, including

failing to correctly apply the law to the facts, and issuing dispositive findings and conclusions outside the preview of the extant motion. This Court should therefore reverse the Order in total and remand back to the district court for further proceedings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews the district court’s findings to determine whether they are clearly erroneous and its conclusions to determine whether they are correct. *BAM Ventures, LLC v. Schiffrman*, 2019 MT 67, ¶7, 395 Mont. 160, 164, 437 P.3d 142, 144. Further, this Court reviews a district court’s grant or denial of injunctive relief for a manifest abuse of discretion. *Jefferson Cty. ex rel. Bd. of Comm’rs v. McCauley Ranches*, 1999 MT 333, ¶6, 297 Mont. 392, 994 P.2d 11.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court erred when it enjoined Catlin from controlling MAR with a preliminary injunction because FT failed to make the requisite showing for a preliminary injunction to issue.

Statutorily, there are three relevant circumstances which may justify the issuance of a preliminary injunction, all of which require a showing of some level of harm. Mont. Code Ann. § 27-19-201; *BAM*, 2019 MT 67, ¶16. Upon the requisite showing, a court may issue a preliminary injunction to maintain the status quo pending trial. *Flora v. Clearman*, 2016 MT 290, ¶21, 385 Mont. 341, 347, 384 P.3d 448, 453. The “status quo” is the last actual, peaceable, uncontested condition which

preceded the pending controversy between the parties. *Id.* An injunction should not issue when monetary damages provide an adequate remedy to the movant. *Shammel v. Canyon Res. Corp.*, 2003 MT 372, ¶17, 319 Mont. 132, 138–139, 92 P.3d 912, 917.

Here, the district court improperly issued a preliminary injunction because: (1) any access issues claimed by FT can be remedied by an award of monetary damages; (2) FT failed to make the requisite showing required under Section 27-19-201 because FT failed to establish there was any valid immediate threat and/or continuation of an irreparable injury or harm, as such, the court should also not have even considered “status quo”; and (3) the district court erred in its determination of status quo.

A. The district court erred when it issued a preliminary injunction because FT can be made whole with monetary damages and FT has already filed a separate suit to recover such monetary damages.

Generally, injunctive relief is not granted where an action for monetary damages will afford an adequate remedy. *Shammel*, 2003 MT 372, ¶17. Equity should not interfere by way of injunction where the law can furnish all the relief to which the complaining party is entitled, as by monetary damages. *Boyer v. Karagacin* (1978), 178 Mont. 26, 31, 582 P.2d 1173, 1177. FT is actively seeking monetary damages in its Title Company suit (filed prior to the case at bar) to make itself whole with monetary damages, including those claimed costs it incurred for

working on MAR. *Stay Mot.*, 3, CR8. FT's access issues can also be cured with monetary damages to improve any of the three other routes available to FT, and which do not infringe upon MAR. Hallin, Tr. 8:7-10, 4/30/21.

The Title Company contends it negotiated and was willing to pay for easements over the North Route, but FT rejected the offer. *Stay Motion*, 3, CR8; *Stay Reply Br.*, 6, CR21. The Title Company also claims it investigated access in the area and determined FT already had access rights over the old county road to the South and North (which Catlin does not dispute), but not on MAR. *Stay Reply Br.*, 6-7. An additional solution is to take steps to fully utilize the Williams-Jackson Easement, similar to what had already been done by Williams to expand access in Section 36. *Aff. Hallin*, ¶¶5-7, 7/8/19.

The monetary damages that FT is already seeking are sufficient to remedy FT's access concerns and claimed MAR improvement costs, and the fee to expand FT's existing easement is logical and sensible and can be accomplished with money. Logically, if monetary damages were insufficient, FT would have joined all present defendants in this case (including Catlin) into one cause; namely, the Title Company case. In any event, an injunction is not the proper remedy. This is particularly relevant when considering the fact that FT does not need to use MAR to get to the Property, it is just the preferred route for FT. Hallin, Tr. 8:7-10, 4/30/21; Timbrook, Tr. 277:15-16, 286:11-16.

B. The district court erred in issuing a preliminary injunction because FT failed to show sufficient evidence of harm or injury and thereby did not meet the prerequisite showing required under Section 27-18-201.

As referenced above, there are three relevant circumstances which may justify the issuance of a preliminary injunction. Mont. Code Ann. §27-19-201. All subsections of the preliminary injunction statute carry the purpose of stopping or preventing injury. Mont. Code Ann. §27-19-201. A great or irreparable harm is explicitly required in Subsection 2 and implicitly required in Subsections 1 and 3, to stop the continuance of, or to prevent, injury. Mont. Code Ann. §27-19-201; *BAM*, 2019 MT 67, ¶16. In all three sections a showing of harm is required. *Id.*

In *BAM*, this Court upheld a preliminary injunction to provide driveway access to a primary residence, because it was the only route to the home, and movants had established a prima facie case for a prescriptive easement based on 12 years of use. *BAM*, 2019 MT 67, ¶¶2, 16, 18. In the case at bar, MAR is not the only access to the Property, and FT admitted it had been able to get to the Property since 2017 when Catlin locked the gate and prevented further third-party access (who did not otherwise have permission) at that point. Timbrook, Tr. 286:11-16, 311:16-25. FT's Timbrook stated that on October 2, 2017, he was told by the Meagher County Sheriff John Lopp, who relayed this information via then county attorney DesChene (Durham), that FT did not have access through MAR. Timbrook, Tr. 318:12-19. Timbrook further confirmed FT "went behind William's house" and "through the

Williams property”, for access, and had brought a “crawler” to FT’s Property using this same route. Timbrook, Tr. 277:11-16, 311:12-15.

Prior to this, FT’s MAR use was from the middle of 2014 to fall 2017, and then not until August 2, 2021, when the Order was issued. *Aff. Timbrook*, ¶37; *Order*, III. Additionally, no one resides on FT’s Property, it is not a primary residence for anyone, and is only used sporadically throughout the year when FT members come in from out-of-state to recreate. In this regard, FT’s Timbrook said use was “maybe 3 times a year”. Timbrook, Tr. 251:1-9, 312:18-21.

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