**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**  
**No. DA 21-0426**

---

**FLYING T RANCH, LLC, a Montana Limited Liability Company,**

**Plaintiff and Appellee,**

**v.**

**CATLIN RANCH, LP, a Montana Limited Partnership**

**Defendant and Appellant,**

**MEAGHER COUNTY, BY AND THROUGH ITS COMMISSION,  
SCOTT JACKSON, LYNN JACKSON, DEBRA WILLIAMS,  
LISA ANDERSON, BERT WILLIAMS & CONNIE HIX,**

**Defendants.**

---

**CATLIN RANCH, LP, a Montana Limited Liability Company**

**Cross-Claimant and Appellant,**

**v.**

**DEBRA WILLIAMS, LISA ANDERSON, BERT  
WILLIAMS and CONNIE HIX,**

**Crossclaim Defendants and Appellees.**

---

**APPELLEE, FLYING T RANCH, LLC'S ANSWER BRIEF**

---

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

### **ARGUMENT SUMMARY**

The Order is anchored in substantial evidence, correct conclusions of law, and minimized harm to all parties *BAM*.

FT established a prima facie case MAR is a county road, ending at the stage station, supported by priority of calls.

Monetary damages are irrelevant. *Flying TI* is law of the case.

FT established a prima facie easement by estoppel. FT relied upon Catlin's silence, after removing the lock, to invest in property accessed by MAR and used it for three years -- the last peaceable event before the lock's 2017 return.

The 1969 petition, if valid, did not terminate private interests in MAR.

Challenges to the Order, without record citations are contrary to appellate procedure rules and without factual support.

## ARGUMENT

### A. **The Order is Supported by Facts Developed After Discovery. The Conclusions of Law Are Correct.**

#### 1. **Introduction.**

MCA § 27-19-201 states an injunction may be granted:

(1) When it appears ... the applicant is *entitled to the relief demanded* and ... any part of the relief consists in restraining the commission or continuance of the act complained of . . .

(2) When it appears ...the ... *continuance of some act* during the litigation would produce a great or irreparable injury to the applicant;

(3) When it appears . . . *the adverse party is doing . . . some act in violation of the applicant's rights . . .*

*Id.* (emphasis added).

The circumstances when injunctive relief is available are disjunctive and a finding supporting one circumstance is sufficient for granting an injunction. *Sweet Grass Farms, Ltd. v. Bd. of Co. Commrs.*, 2000 MT 147, ¶27, 300 Mont. 66, 2 P.3d

825. A *prima facie* case is such as will prevail until contradicted and overcome by other evidence. *Black's Law Dictionary*, p. 1071 (5<sup>th</sup> Ed.); MCA § 26-01-102 (“Prima facie evidence defined) FT satisfied its burden.

This Court discussed these standards in *BAM Ventures, LLC v. Schifferman*, 2019 MT 67, 395 Mont. 160, 437 P.3d 142. There, the dispute concerned access to properties owned by BAM and Schifferman. *Id.* at ¶ 2. In 2003, before improvements were made to the properties, Schiffermans purchased their lot, which lacked physical access. *Id.* In 2004, the Department of Transportation added a paved apron extending from the highway toward the border of the properties and installed a gate nearby. *Id.*

From 2004, Schiffermans used these improvements to access their lot and improved the access. *Id.* In 2005, Schiffermans built a garage followed by a house in 2016. *Id.* They installed a cattle guard near the gate. Contractors used the apron and driveway to access the property. *Id.* Schiffermans believed their access was on their lot and received no objections about its use. *Id.*

In 2017, BAM purchased the adjacent lot and used its property to host recreational activities. *Id.* at ¶ 3. BAM's principal believed Schiffermans' driveway ran across part of BAM's property, so he fenced off the driveway and removed the cattle guard. *Id.* In response, Schiffermans removed part of BAM's fencing and began driving across an unimproved area to access their driveway. *Id.*

As of the injunction hearing, Schiffermans had attempted to improve this altered route but found it did not provide comparable access. *Id.* An expert testified it would take several days and \$7,000 to build comparable access. *Id.*

After hearing, the district court determined Schiffermans made a *prima facie* case of a prescriptive easement and granted a preliminary injunction pursuant to MCA § 27-19-201(1). *Id.* at ¶ 5. The district court held Schiffermans had not established irreparable harm, and money damages could not be considered irreparable harm, because "money damages may be recovered ...without resort to equity." *Id.* The court reasoned, however, that Schiffermans did not need to establish "irreparable harm" because that requirement was necessary for injunctive relief under subsection (2) of MCA § 27-19-201. *Id.*

On appeal, this Court addressed the standards in paragraphs 14-16, explaining "[t]he prevention of some degree of harm or injury is an overlapping concept ...implied within all of the subsections of the statute . . . This was the essential meaning of our ...statement in *Porter* ... that "[a]lthough no finding of injury or damage is required for a preliminary injunction under [subsection (1)], it is the court's duty to minimize the injury or damage to all parties to the controversy." *Id.*, at ¶ 16, (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

This Court affirmed the district court's preliminary injunction order, holding while Schiffermans did not prove "irreparable harm," they established a *prima facie*

case for relief and would suffer continuing harm by not being allowed to access their property by way of the access they had used for years before the start of the litigation. *Id.*, ¶ 18.

*BAM* applies. FT alleged an easement over MAR under several theories. In recognition of the substantial facts before the district court, following nearly four days of testimony, Catlin does not credibly contest FT failed to establish a *prima facie* case for relief. Instead, it asserts FT (1) can be “made whole” with damages from the title company; (2) failed to show harm and has other access; (3) failed to “establish” an easement by estoppel; and (4) the last peaceable event was in 2017 when Catlin locked the gate.

**2. FT Established a Prima Facie Case that MAR is a County Road that has not been abandoned and Used For Years Without Interference as Access to Section 25.**

The district court correctly found FT established a *prima facie* case that MAR is a county road created in 1892 that has not been abandoned. The standard for determining the existence of a public road is whether 'the record taken as a whole shows that a public road was created. *Letica Land Co. v. Anaconda-Deer Lodge Cty.*, 2015 MT 323, ¶ 15, 381 Mont. 389, 362 P.3d 614 (Mont. 2015). This standard reduces the burden of having to produce precise documentary evidence showing that a public road was validly created a century after the fact. *Reid v. Park Cty.*, 192 Mont. 231, 627 P.2d 1210, 1213 (Mont. 1981).

The 1891 petition, accepted and approved by the county in 1892, as reflected in County records, constitutes *prime facie* evidence of the creation of a county road over MAR. MCA § 26-1-605 (Entries in public or other official books or records made in the performance of the officer's duty by a public officer of this state or any other person in the performance of a duty specially enjoined by law are *prima facie* evidence of the facts stated in the book or record.); MCA 26-1-606 (Entry made by an officer or board of officers or under the direction and in the presence of either, in the course of official duty, is *prima facie* evidence of the facts stated in such entry).

The parties disputed the terminus of the 1892 change in the WWS Springs to Livingston Road "at or near the stage station." As summarized above, the district court received testimonial and documentary evidence on this issue. It turned to MCA § 70-20-201 which explains rules of construction in construing descriptions:

(1) Where there are certain definite and ascertained particulars in the description, the addition of others which are indefinite, unknown, or false does not frustrate the conveyance, but it is to be construed by the first mentioned particulars.

(2) When permanent and visible or ascertained boundaries or monuments are inconsistent with the measurement, either of lines, angles, or surfaces, the boundaries or monuments are paramount.

\* \* \*

(6) When the description refers to a map and that reference is inconsistent with other particulars, it controls them if it appears

that the parties acted with reference to the map; otherwise, the map is subordinate to other definite and ascertained particulars.

*Id.* (emphasis added). Order, COL N, O & P; Tr. Test. 4/29/21 at pp. 147-150; Pl. Ex. 118, 120.

Catlin does not claim the district court erred in applying these rules governing the priority of calls, to the evidence before it when finding the stagecoach station location in Section 15, and not near a sheep camp miles away in Section 23. The statute is not even mentioned in Catlin's brief. Regardless, the district court applied these rules of construction and correctly found FT made a prima facie case that MAR ended at Moss Agate, "at or near the stage station," in Section 15 because the stagecoach station constituted a permanent and ascertainable monument the location of which takes priority over any inconsistency associated with the approximate distance of that monument from the Hill Ranch or the "sheep camp." *Larsen v. Richardson*, 2011 MT 195, ¶¶ 43-49, 361 Mont. 344, 260 P.3d 103 (discussing priority of calls)

Having established a prima facie case that MAR was a county road ending at the stage station in Section 15, the next issue was abandonment. A county road, once established, continues to be a county road until abandoned or vacated by (1) operation of law; (2) judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction; or (3) the order of the Board of County Commissioners. MCA § 7-14-2615; *Smith v. Russell*, 2003 MT 326, 318 Mont. 336, 80 P.3d 431, 435. Abandonment cannot be established by

mere implication. *McCauley v. Thompson-Nistler*, 2000 MT 215, 301 Mont. 81, 10 P.3d. 794. Instead, the “party claiming abandonment has the burden of proving that acts claimed to constitute abandonment demonstrated a “decisive and conclusive intent to abandon the road.” *Soup Creek LLC v. Gibson*, 2019 MT 58, 395 Mont. 105, 439 P.3d 369.

Here, the district court again evaluated the evidence developed over the course of a year, including road records and commissioners’ journals from Meagher County, and the testimony of landowners as summarized above and applied the law. It correctly concluded in COL R-U that there was insufficient evidence by Catlin to find at this stage of the proceedings, abandonment, and even if Catlin met its burden, the 1969 Petition reserved access to the Dupeas, and because FT is a successor to Dupeas, prima facie evidence of reserved access over MAR existed.

In sum, the court carefully weighed the evidence presented over nearly four (4) days of testimony and applied that evidence to the law. It correctly found FT established a prima facie case on the theory that MAR was and remains a county road starting in Section 15, proceeding through Sections 14 and 11 and across Section 2, until the road forks in the north ½ of Section 2. This is the route FT used for over three (3) years until Galt placed a lock on the gate, which interferes with FT’s enjoyment of the easement, and results in harm sufficient to support an injunction under subsections (1) and (3) of MCA § 27-19-201. *BAM*, 2019 MT 67,

¶ 14, 395 Mont. 160, 437 P.3d 142. Further, the court minimized the harm to all parties by limiting access over MAS to only the parties, and allowing Catlin to lock the gate, provided the parties received a key. The district court's decision is factually sound and legally correct.

**3. FT's case against the Title Insurance Company is Irrelevant and Rejected in *Flying T I*, which is the Law of the Case.**

Catlin argues at pages 11-12, that the court erred because FT seeks monetary damages against its title insurance company in a separate lawsuit, citing *Boyer v. Karagacin* (1978), 178 Mont. 26, 582 P.2d 1173. This argument finds no support in *Boyer*, the law of injunctions, and was considered and rejected by this Court in *Flying T Ranch v. Catlin Ranch, LP*, 2020 MT 99, 400 Mont. 1, 462 P.3d 218 ("*Flying T I*"), which is the law of the case. *State v. Gilder*, 2001 MT 121, ¶ 9, 305 Mont. 362, 28 P.3d 488.

FT's claims against its title insurance company for breach of contract and bad faith, does not furnish "all the relief to which [FT] is entitled..." *Boyer*, 178 Mont. 31, 582 P.2d at 1176. This Court held in *Flying T I*: "[T]he determination of the status of Moss Agate ... goes well beyond the claims Flying T has in its ... contract and bad faith claim against First American, and any relief Flying T may ... obtain from First American ... would do nothing to determine the status of Moss Agate...." 2020 MT 99, ¶ 17, 400 Mont. 1, 462 P.3d 218. That decision is the law of the case. "Under the doctrine of law of the case, a prior decision of this Court resolving a

particular issue between the same parties in the same case is binding and cannot be relitigated. This Court has applied the doctrines of law of the case ... to preclude an appellant from raising issues that were decided by this Court on a previous appeal.” *State v. Gilder*, 2001 MT 131, ¶ 9, 305 Mont. 362, 28 P3d 488 (citations omitted). Catlin’s argument is without merit.

**4. FT established a *prima facie* case for relief and proved harm by being denied its historic access.**

Catlin argues FT failed to show sufficient evidence of harm to justify the preliminary injunction, arguing FT has other access. *Id.* 13-18. Catlin conflates and then ignores the role of “harm” in MCA § 27-19-201, as analyzed in *BAM*, and then ignores the evidence of legal and practical difficulties associated with each of the other “accesses” it claims exists in this case.

As discussed, the court evaluated the substantial evidence, applied the priority of calls in the applicable statute and held FT established a *prima facie* case that MAR is a county road located in Section 15 that has not been abandoned. Catlin does not seriously dispute that finding or conclusion.

FT was not required to show “irreparable harm” as Catlin implies. *BAM* says the opposite and implies that harm is inherent in cases where the applicant makes a case o *prima facie* case of entitlement to relief under subsection (1) of the statute. In *BAM*, the Schiffermans attempted to improve the altered access route but found it did not provide comparable access to that enjoyed for years before the dispute. *Id.*

An expert testified it would take days and \$7,000 to build a comparable access. *Id.*

This Court held that while Schiffermans had alternative access, they “[e]stablished they would suffer continuing harm by not being able to access their property, while the litigation was pending, by way of the access route they had used for many years, and thus satisfied subsection (1).” 2019 MT at ¶ 18.

The same analysis and conclusion apply here. Catlin’s claim FT has other access and therefore was not “harmed” is the same as that rejected in *BAM* and is untrue. FT used MAR for over three (3) years, and improved that road, because, like the access in *BAM*, it is *the only feasible access* to its property, Second Timbrook Aff., CRR 2, 034 at ¶10, a fact recognized by Catlin when it offered FT use of MAR to haul propane, to winterize its cabin after Catlin locked the gate in 2017. Pl. Ex. 101.

At the hearings, FT showed that alleged access to the north and south no longer existed; that bridges over creek crossings were absent and legal impediments existed, including Jacksons’ denial of access over a portion of Section 2 (south of the “Y”) and the scope of the easement across state land to the north, from Williams’ permissive route, prohibits use for a residence. The roadbed to the south was obliterated in places, with no access across the Smith. Timbrook testified it would cost in excess of \$350,000 to construction a road of similar quality to that of MAR.

Trs. 1/14/21; Affidavit, CR 23, at ¶ 9. Engineer Tom Henesh confirmed the physical limitations of these other claimed accesses.

In short, as Catlin's expert Hallin admitted, Moss Agate is the **ONLY** access that permits Flying T to reasonably access its property and was the access used for over three years before Catlin locked the gate. As in *BAM*, FT made a *prima facie* case for relief and the locked gate subjects FT to harm because it cannot access its property over the route it used between 2014 and the fall of 2017.

Contrary to its argument at pages 18-20, Catlin offered no evidence of any harm it suffered when FT used MAR between 2014 and 2017. Galt admitted no complaints with FT's use of MAR after learning of the county road records in 2014. Game warden, Lesofski, acknowledged no complaints, as did the Sheriff. Catlin offered no evidence of future harm. The district court carefully limited potential harm to Catlin by limiting access to FT, Williams and Jackson and allowed Catlin to lock the gate if it provided all parties a key. Order, p. 26, III.

The district court's Order is factually sound, legally correct and consistent with *BAM*.

**5. FT Established a Prima Facie Case of Easement by Estoppel.**

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